## **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

06-03-2013

# COURT OF APPEAL CERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

District I

Case No. 2013 AP 000350 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

ANDRE A. BRIDGES,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON MARCH 14, 2012, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL GUOLEE PRESIDING, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANT

MARK S. ROSEN
ROSEN AND HOLZMAN
400 W. MORELAND BLVD., SUITE C
WAUKESHA, WI 53188
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant
State Bar No. 1019297

##

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Whether or not the trial court erred in finding that

Defendant did not have standing to object to the police search of Mallory's residence and then denying Defendant's Suppression Motions. This, when Defendant had been an overnight guest at the residence. Furthermore, the police entry was without a warrant and the State did not provide a justified exception to the warrant requirement. Also, Mallory's confession was both involuntary as well as insufficiently attenuated from this initial police illegal activity.

Trial Court Answered: No.

#### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Appeal involves issues of law which are not settled. Arguments need to be presented in more detail in oral argument. Therefore, oral argument and publication are requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In case 10 CF 1603, Mr. Andre Bridges was charged in a five Count Criminal Complaint dated March 29, 2010. The Complaint also charged a codefendant, Raymond Golden. Only Counts Two through Five charged Defendant Bridges. Count Two charged Defendant with Possession with Intent to Deliver Heroin, ten to fifty grams, Second or Subsequent Offense, contrary to Wis. Stats.

961.41(1m)(d)3, 939.50(3)(d),, and 961.48(1)(b); Count charged Defendant with Possession with Intent to Deliver Cocaine, fifteen to forty grams, Second or Subsequent Offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. 961.41(1m)(cm)3, 939.50(3)(d), and 961.48(1)(b); Count Four charged Possession with Intent to Deliver Controlled Substance (MDMA), Second or Subsequent Offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. 961.41(1m)(hm)4, 939.50(3)c, and 961.48(1)(a); and Count Five charged Possession of Firearm by Felon, contrary to Wis. Stats. 941.29(2), 939.50(3)(g). The charges allege that police searched a residence located in Milwaukee. Defendant was in the residence at the time. During the search, police found the charged drugs in a toolbox located in the basement of that residence. In the kitchen, the police found items consistent with drug delivery and packaging, such as baggies and a gram scale. Also in the basement, the police found two firearms. Police recovered fingerprints from the toolbox and a digital scale found in the basement. Also, subsequent to that search, Defendant consented to a search of his mother's residence. At that residence, police found baggies as well as a loaded firearm magazine and unfired cartridges. The Complaint indicated that this was the same brand and manufacturer of the cartridges recovered from one of the guns found at 7146 W. Appleton Avenue. (2:1-6).

A preliminary hearing occurred on April 19, 2010. Two individuals testified, a police detective and a fingerprint

identification technician. After hearing this testimony and receiving other evidence, the Court Commissioner found probable cause and bound Defendant over for trial. The State filed a Criminal Information charging the same four charges against Defendant as indicated in the Criminal Complaint. (34:21; 6:1-3).

Arraignment in 10 CF 1603 occurred immediately after the bindover after the preliminary hearing. At that time, Defendant entered pleas of Not Guilty to the four Counts in the Information that applied to him. (34:21-22).

On June 7, 2010, Defendant filed his Fourth Amendment Suppression Motions. He sought suppression of the items found at the residence where the search had occurred. This was 7146 W. Appleton Avenue in Milwaukee. Furthermore, as indicated, subsequent to this search, Defendant had allegedly consented to a search of his mother's residence. A gun case and ammunition had been found at that residence. He sought suppression of these items as well, but under a "fruit of the poisonous tree" argument. (7:1-3).

In response to Defendant's Suppression Motions, the State filed its Response. The State alleged that Defendant lacked standing to object to the search of the residence where the initial search had occurred. The State alleged that this residence belonged to someone else. (8:1-4).

In reply to the State's Response, the Defendant filed his Reply Brief. He argued that he had consent to object to this

search. (9:1-3).

The trial court conducted an evidentiary motion hearing on February 11, 2011. Two witnesses testified. First was Frederick Mallory. He lived in the apartment. Then, Defendant testified. After taking testimony, the trial court ruled that Defendant did not have standing to contest the search of the residence located at 7146 W. Appleton Avenue. Furthermore, the trial court ruled that Mallory had voluntarily consented to the police search of his residence. (37:160-179).

Eventually, a jury trial commenced on September 26, 2011. The trial lasted until September 30, 2011.

The jury returned guilty verdicts on the four Counts that applied to Defendant of each case against the Defendant. This occurred on September 30, 2011. (44:3-13).

On March 9, 2012, the trial court sentenced Defendant on Counts Two, Three and Four to eight years of initial confinement plus three years of extended supervision on each Count, to run concurrent to each other. On Count Five, the trial court sentenced Defendant to two years initial confinement plus two years of extended supervision. However, the court ran this Count consecutive to the other concurrent terms. (45:42-43; 27:1-2).

This Appeal has been filed within the schedule established by the Court of Appeals.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In case 10 CF 1603, Mr. Andre Bridges was charged in a five Count Criminal Complaint dated March 29, 2010. The Complaint also charged a codefendant, Raymond Golden. Count One applied only to Golden. Counts Two through Five only charged Defendant Bridges. Count Two charged Defendant with Possession with Intent to Deliver Heroin, ten to fifty grams, Second or Subsequent Offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. 961.41(1m)(d)3, 939.50(3)(d),, and 961.48(1)(b); Count Three charged Defendant with Possession with Intent to Deliver Cocaine, fifteen to forty grams, Second or Subsequent Offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. 961.41(1m)(cm)3, 939.50(3)(d), and 961.48(1)(b); Count Four charged Possession with Intent to Deliver Controlled Substance (MDMA), Second or Subsequent Offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. 961.41(1m)(hm)4, 939.50(3)c, and 961.48(1)(a); and Count Five charged Possession of Firearm by Felon, contrary to Wis. Stats. 941.29(2), 939.50(3)(g). The charges allege that police searched a residence located in Milwaukee. This was at 7146 W. Appleton Avenue, Milwaukee. It occurred on March 4, 2010. Defendant was in the residence at the time. During the search, police found the charged drugs in a toolbox located in the basement of that residence. In the kitchen, the police found items consistent with drug delivery and packaging, such as baggies and a gram scale. Also in the basement, the police found two firearms. Police recovered

fingerprints from the toolbox and a digital scale found in the basement. Also, allegedly, subsequent to that search, Defendant consented to a search of his mother's residence. At that residence, police found baggies and a loaded firearm magazine as well as unfired cartridges. The Complaint indicated that this was the same brand and manufacturer of the cartridges recovered from one of the guns found at 7146 W. Appleton Avenue. (2:1-6).

A preliminary hearing occurred on April 19, 2010. Two individuals testified, a police detective and a fingerprint identification technician. After hearing this testimony and receiving other evidence, the Court Commissioner found probable cause and bound Defendant over for trial. The State filed a Criminal Information charging the same four charges against Defendant as indicated in the Criminal Complaint. (34:21; 6:1-3).

Arraignment occurred immediately after the bindover after the preliminary hearing. At that time, Defendant entered pleas of Not Guilty to the four Counts in the Information that applied to him. (34:21:22).

On June 7, 2010, Defendant filed Fourth Amendment Suppression Motions. He sought suppression of the items found at the residence where the search had occurred. This was 7146 W. Appleton Avenue in Milwaukee. According to Defendant, this was an illegal, warrantless search. Furthermore, subsequent to this search, Defendant had allegedly consented to a search of his mother's residence. A gun

case and ammunition had been found at that residence. He sought suppression of these items as well, but under a "fruit of the poisonous tree" argument. His consent to search had occurred only as a result of the illegal search of 7146 W. Appleton Avenue. (7:1-3).

In response to Defendant's suppression motions, the State filed its Response. The State alleged that Defendant lacked standing to object to the search of the residence where the initial search had occurred. The State alleged that this residence belonged to someone else. (8:1-4).

In reply to the State's Response, the Defendant filed his Reply Brief. He argued that he had consent to object to this search. (9:1-3).

The trial court conducted an evidentiary motion hearing on February 11, 2011. Two witnesses testified. Both testified on behalf of the Defendant. The State did not present any witnesses or evidence. The first witness was Frederick Mallory. He lived in the apartment. Then, Defendant testified.

After taking testimony, the trial court ruled that Defendant did not have standing to contest the search of the residence located at 7146 W. Appleton Avenue. Furthermore, the trial court ruled that Mallory's consent was voluntary. (37:160-179).

Prior to testimony, the State indicated that it was challenging Defendant's standing to object to the search of 7146 W.

Appleton Avenue. The defense was prepared to first put on witnesses to establish standing. Then, the State would proceed. (37:4). The court indicated that it would discuss the search only once the Defendant had established standing. (37:11).

The first witness to testify at the Motion hearing was Frederick Mallory. Once again, he testified for the Defendant. He lived at 7146 W. Appleton Avenue. This was the lower unit to a duplex. There are stairs that lead to an apartment on the second floor. In that first floor hallway, there was also a door that lead to the stairway that went into the basement. (37:13-14). He knew Andre Bridges. On March 4, 2010, Mr. Bridges was in Mallory's apartment. He allowed Bridges to bring females over. In the evening of March 3 leading into March 4, Mr. Bridges stayed overnight at his house. He could also stay overnight three to four nights per week. He was also present during the day three to four days per week. He had some of his stuff over there, such as a treadmill machine. This schedule had been for a matter of months. (37:15-17). It was more than three months. Defendant could come and go as he pleased. He could bring friends to the apartment. He could exclude people for a good reason. Defendant had keys to the apartment for about two to three months. He had keys to the outside door. This was a different door than the key to the apartment door proper. Defendant had keys to both doors. With respect to the basement, Defendant did not have a key to the basement. Mallory had the key.

However, the key was available to the Defendant if he asked Mallory. (37:18-19).

Mallory testified that Defendant had access to the basement if he chose to have access. Defendant had property at the apartment. He had a treadmill, toiletries, clothes, work uniform. (37:20-21). Defendant would go to work from the apartment, Monday through Friday. Defendant had given him money. He also earned his keep by shoveling, taking out the trash, clean, vacuum, doing the dishes, buying dish soap, various chores. Defendant helped Mallory with his job of managing 150 properties. Defendant would help move things, empty out apartments. (37:22-27). Defendant could do anything that he wanted to do at the apartment. (37:28).

Mallory testified that he was present when the Defendant was there on March 4, 2010. Mallory heard police knocking on the door. He did not answer the door because he was lying down. Defendant did not answer the door. He saw the police enter his apartment. He did not see what the Defendant was doing prior to the entry of the police. The only thing that he saw was the police saying "hands up" and their guns. Before the doors opened, the Defendant was in the living room. When the officers entered the apartment, they had their weapons out. (37:29-31). At some point, an officer put down his firearm. He informed Mallory that they were there for a drug investigation. (37:31-33).

Defendant objected to the State's interrogation of Mallory

with respect to the search. Defendant indicated that he thought that this hearing was only with respect to the issue of standing. However, contrary to its initial position that the court would entertain the issue of the search only after having established standing, the trial court denied this objection. The court indicated that the State could go into the issue of consent. The court wanted to utilize the time efficiently. (37:31-32).

With respect to the search of the apartment and the basement, Mallory refused consent with respect to the basement. Any consent that he might have given towards a search of the basement was after the fact, after the fact that they had completed the search of the basement. Although he signed a written consent to the basement, the police only presented the written consent to him after they had already come up from the basement. They came up from the basement, then they presented him with the written consent. (37:35-36). The basement door was locked. Mallory had lost the keys. The apartment owner was the only one with the key. Mallory did not give the police keys to go to the basement. (37:37).

Mallory testified that he initially heard the officers knocking. He heard the door open, "police." He can't say that the officers knocked before entering. (37:48-49).

According to Mallory, the police bashed in. He was in his bedroom. Once they realized that he was in there, they shouted "put your hands up." One stayed in the bedroom with him. The officer

already had the gun drawn. (37:51-53). He did not hear them knock on the apartment door to gain entry. The first thing that he heard from the door area was the police breaking down the door. (37:61). At first, the police that entered his room had their guns drawn. (37:62). The police started searching his room before he gave them consent to search that room. He was in his bedroom with an officer with him. Mallory was not free to get up and move about. About twenty minutes had elapsed before they asked him for consent to search. (37:65-66). When he said "I don't care" when they asked if they could search, he did not believe that he had any choice when he said "yeah." (37:67). With respect to the basement search, he indicated to the police "You gonna anyway. I don't care. Go head on." (37:68).

With respect to the written signed consent, he's not sure if he signed it before or after the officers did their search. Twenty to thirty minutes had elapsed from the time that the officers had entered his unit until the time that he signed the form. The police asked him for the key before he had signed the form. (37:69).

The State objected to any continuing Defense questioning about the voluntariness of the search. After hearing some initial argument, the trial court made the initial ruling, during Mallory's testimony, that Defendant had no expectation of privacy to the residence, the kitchen, or the basement. The trial court sustained the State's objection. (37:70-78).

Defendant had odds and ends stored in the basement. He had hub caps, mostly car stuff, jumper cables. His entertainment center was stored in the basement. (37:78-79).

Once again, Mallory testified that the written consent was after the fact of the search of the basement. (37:82). The written consent was after the fact. When they had brought up the contraband, to include the drugs and guns, they gave him the written consent to sign. They only gave him the consent to sign after they had already come up. He signed the statement after. This was after they had already found everything. (37:83-84, 87).

Defendant Andre Bridges testified next. He also testified for the defense. He testified that he stayed part time at 7146 W. Appleton with a friend of his, Frederick Mallory. From August of 2009 until March 4, 2010, he stayed at the apartment three to four times per week. On his days off, it would be days. Most of the time, it would be night after he got off of work. (37:99-101). He had freedom to come and go from the apartment as he pleased. Mallory gave him a key to the front entrance and also to his door. He kept them through March 4, 2010. He could bring people into the apartment as he pleased. He could exclude his company from the apartment that he felt should not be there. He would be in the apartment alone. He had property in the apartment. He had a treadmill, two sets of uniforms, boots, shirts, pants, hygienes, stereo receiver, speakers. He also had food. He brought food. Fred

ate his food. He had a female friend spend the night with him from the night of March 3 going into March 4. She left about 6:45, 7:00. (37:102-104). He had access to the basement through Fred and Todd. Todd was the owner of the apartment building. He went into the basement at least three times. He would go into the basement to work out on his treadmill. He stored his hub caps down there. He stored his entertainment center in the basement. (37:104-106).

Defendant testified that he went into the basement by asking Fred to open the door with his key. Fred gave him the key to the basement when he put his hub caps in there. He also helped Fred clean up the hallway. He put the stuff from the hallway into the basement. This was probably two weeks prior to March 4. He compensated Fred for allowing him to stay there. He would bring food, shovel snow, clean up, paint the hallways. He often helped Todd and Fred do various work in the other apartment buildings. He helped Fred paint the hallway of 7146 W. Appleton. He also did minor work such as dry walling, dry walling repairs, and wet sanding. (37:106-108). His nephew would come over and lounge around. (37:109).

When the police came, he was on the couch asleep. He was woken by the door being hit in or forced in by the police officers. The first thing that he heard was a boom. That noise woke him up. He got up and stood by the couch. He was just about to ask Fred "what was that?" However, there was another boom and the police officers

came in. They were waving their guns telling him to get on the floor. The police forced the door open. The door was locked. He did not hear the police identify themselves prior to the kick. He did not hear any knocking on either the outside or inside door to the apartment. He never heard anyone announce "police." After the police entered, they told him to get on the floor at gunpoint. The officer did not put the gun away until after he had sat the Defendant up. (37:110-111). About six to seven officers entered the apartment. He saw one officer go into Fred's bedroom. After they had him lay face down on the floor, they frisked him. They were in the kitchen searching. As soon as they came into the apartment, they started searching the kitchen, the living room, and going through drawers. From the time they entered, they started searching almost immediately. (37:112-113).

With respect to the basement, the police actually went into the hallway after they searched the house. It was a detective at the hallway and another at the door to the basement. The detective at the door indicated that the basement was locked. He asked if they should go down there. The other detective said "yeah." (37:114-115). Defendant observed the other detective leave and come back with a crowbar. He jimmied the door open with the crowbar and then they both went downstairs. With respect to Fred's bedroom, he only heard conversation about Fred's drug use. That was about it. He never heard the police ask him about a consent to search. He did

not see either detective that were at the basement door go into Fred's room after looking at the basement door. No one went into that bedroom to talk. (37:116-117). Defendant sat on the floor for what seemed like hours. He never saw Fred leave the bedroom. There was an officer with the Defendant the entire time. After leaving the apartment, the police took the Defendant to his mother's house. The police got out. They were talking to his mother at the door. They got him out of the police car because he was in handcuffs. They went into the kitchen. Two detectives were with him, his mother and sister in the kitchen. Two to three more detectives went into the basement. (37:118-119). The police never asked him consent to search his mother's house. (37:120).

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