RECEIVED

08-05-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2013AP350-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDRE A. BRIDGES,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL D. GUOLEE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Here, Bridges, who was on supervision for a 2005 conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine (4:5), was required to stay at his mother's house (37:119). Bridges did not inform his agent that he was, in fact, staying regularly at Mallory's place, and maintained the appearance that he was staying at his mother's house by showing up there for his agent's monthly home visits (37:132). Bridges' regular presence at Mallory's duplex without his probation agent's approval was a violation of a condition of his supervision, and, critically, enabled Bridges to hide his contraband and continued involvement in the drug trade from his probation agent. Bridges should not be allowed to profit from his violation by being able to claim an expectation of privacy in a place that he had no right to be under his conditions of probation.

Bridges may object that courts have generally rejected arguments that defendants forfeit their right to an expectation of privacy by engaging in unlawful conduct on the premises. The State agrees that a drug dealer typically has a right to privacy in a place in which he plies his illegal trade during the day and sleeps at night. *See, e.g. United States v. Gamez-Orduno*, 235 F.3d 453, 459-60 (9th Cir. 2000); *State v. Simmons*, 714 N.W.2d 264, 272-73 (Iowa 2006) (defendant had legitimate privacy expectation in girlfriend's residence where he had manufactured methamphetamine and stayed overnight for six weeks).

However, the State focuses on the wrongful nature of Bridges' *presence* at Mallory's place, not on the wrongfulness of his conduct there. Courts have long recognized that a person lacks an expectation of privacy that society would consider legitimate in a place he or she has no legal right to be. *See United States v. Jones*, 362 U.S. 257, 267 (1960) *overruled on other grounds, United States v. Salvucci*, 448 U.S. 83 (1980) (exclusionary rule may not be asserted by "those who, by virtue of their wrongful presence, cannot invoke the privacy of the premises searched."). As with standing generally, the defendant bears the burden of proving that his presence in the searched area is not wrongful. *See United States v. Mitchell*, 64 F.3d 1105 (7th Cir. 1995).

The classic example is the burglar who claims an expectation of privacy in the home he or she has burgled. Then-Justice Rehnquist addressed this situation in *Rakas*:

A burglar plying his trade in a summer cabin during the off season may have a thoroughly justified subjective expectation of privacy, but it is not one which the law recognizes as "legitimate." His presence, in the words of *Jones*, 362 U.S. at 267 [], is "wrongful"; his expectation is not "one that society is prepared to recognize as 'reasonable."" *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S., at 361, 88 S.Ct., at 516 (Harlan, J., concurring).

Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143 n.12.

In *Amos*, this court addressed whether the defendant, a prison escapee, had an expectation of privacy in his friend Nelson's residence, where he was hiding from authorities. 153 Wis. 2d at 269-70. This court concluded that while Amos may have had a subjective expectation of privacy in Nelson's residence, his expectation was not one that society would recognize as legitimate, relying on *United States v. Roy*, 734 F.2d 108, 110–12 (2d Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1110 (1986):

We agree with and adopt the view of the Second Circuit Court of Appeals that an escapee has no legitimate expectation of privacy in a residence where he or she is hiding from lawful authority at the time of a warrantless exigent circumstances search. As a matter of policy, society is not prepared to recognize an expectation of privacy as reasonable under these circumstances. Thus, the seizure of Amos's person in Nelson's home was not unconstitutional, because Amos had no privacy interest in Nelson's home since he was an escapee from a penal institution.

Amos, 153 Wis. 2d at 269-70 (footnotes omitted). As Judge Fine explained in a concurring opinion, "[a] person who is on the searched premises unlawfully has no 'legitimate' expectation of privacy in those premises." *Id.* at 285 (Fine, J. concurring).

Decisions from other state appellate courts are instructive. In *Commonwealth v. Morrison*, 710 N.E.2d 584, 586 (Mass. 1999), the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court held that the defendant lacked standing despite his status as an overnight guest because he was also subject to a protective order that forbade him not to be at that very premises. "It is simply nonsense to say that society is prepared to recognize his right to be where society by the processes of the law has ordered him not to be," explained the *Morrison* court. *Id.* "What deprives this defendant of a reasonable expectation of privacy is not his status as a law violator in general, but the fact that he was under a specific and valid legal order not to be in this particular place." *Id.*

In *State v. Oien*, 717 N.W.2d 593, 597 (N.D. 2006), the North Dakota Supreme Court concluded that a defendant who had been given notice by the manager of a public housing project that the defendant was not allowed on the premises lacked a reasonable expectation of privacy in the premises. *Id.* Despite Oien's status as an overnight guest, the court concluded that Oien could not claim an expectation of privacy in a place in which he was ordered not to be. *Id.*

Based on the logic of the authorities discussed above, the State submits that this court should conclude that Bridges lacks standing to object to the search of Mallory's duplex. Society should not recognize as a legitimate an expectation of privacy in a place in which Bridges' presence was contrary to his conditions of probation. If this court declines to so rule, it should nonetheless give significant weight to the fact of Bridges' supervision violation in the totality of the circumstances analysis discussed in the next section.

> Alternatively, Bridges Cannot D. Establish a Legitimate Expectation of Privacy in Mallory's Kitchen or the Locked Basement of Mallory's Building under the Six-Factor Analysis in Rewolinski.

If the fact that Bridges' presence in Mallory's duplex does not, by itself, persuade this court that Bridges lacks standing to object to the search, it should nonetheless conclude that Bridges cannot prove a legitimate expectation of privacy under the multi-factor, totality of the circumstances test in *Rewolinski*, 159 Wis. 2d at 17-18. To repeat, the six factors in this test are as follows:

(1) whether the defendant had a property interest in the premises; (2) whether he was legitimately (lawfully) on the premises; (3) whether he had complete dominion and control and the right to exclude others; (4) whether he took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy; (5) whether he put the property to some private use; and (6) whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy.

Id. (citation omitted). Below, the State applies the relevant facts from the suppression hearing to the six factors, and submits that they weigh heavily against an objective ground for standing.

As to the first factor, property interest in the premises, Mallory testified that Bridges gave him some money toward rent on occasion, but he was unclear exactly how much (37:23-25). Mallory said Bridges also did chores around the house, and would occasionally help Mallory, who worked as the maintenance person for the landlord's 150 properties, by shoveling snow or "mov[ing] things" on the properties (37:25-27). Bridges also did some dry walling on the properties (37:106-08). However, Bridges was not on Mallory's lease and did not pay rent regularly to Mallory (and apparently not at all to the landlord) (37:24-25). Accordingly, Bridges cannot claim a traditional property interest in Mallory's premises, and this factor weighs against recognition of an objective expectation of privacy on the premises.

The second factor, whether Bridges was lawfully on the premises, must weigh heavily against an objective basis for standing for reasons fully developed in Section I.C. above. As discussed, Bridges had no right to be at Mallory's duplex overnight without his probation agent's permission when he was required to stay at his mother's house as a condition of his supervision. This factor should be assigned substantial weight in the totality of the circumstances analysis, for the reasons discussed in the preceding Section.

Concerning the third factor, whether Bridges had complete control and dominion and the right to exclude others, Mallory testified that Bridges was often alone in the unit, and Bridges had keys to the outside door to the building and the interior door to Mallory's unit (37:18; 26). In addition, Bridges could invite friends over, and Mallory said he could exclude people from the building but apparently only if Mallory felt Bridges had a "good reason" to do so (37:18). However, no matter what may be gleaned from this testimony, the circuit court expressly found that Bridges lacked complete control and dominion over Mallory's duplex unit, and this finding is not clearly erroneous.

More importantly, regardless whether Bridges had control and dominion over the unit, he plainly did not have such authority over the locked basement where the contraband used to convict him was found. In his brief, Bridges notes he kept his treadmill and stereo equipment in the basement, and asserts that he had access to the basement "anytime that he wanted it" (Bridges' br. at 20). The record indicates Bridges' access to the basementwhich was down a flight of stairs and could not be entered from Mallory's unit itself (37:14)-was very limited. Bridges was not given a key to the basement, and he was not authorized by Mallory or the landlord to access it without permission (37:19-20; 42-43). Mallory testified that his boss, the landlord, kept equipment in the basement, and so "it was not cool to go down in the basement" without permission (37:20). Moreover, Bridges had no control or dominion over the basement because, by his own account, he went down there only "like two to three times," and he never had his own key (37:139-41). Bridges said he would have to wait for the landlord or Mallory to come around to gain access to the basement (37:105-06). These circumstances show that Bridges had little control over the basement, and this factor must be counted against Bridges in the analysis.⁴

The fourth factor, whether Bridges took the precautions of someone seeking privacy, is of little value to the analysis in this case. Bridges was Mallory's guest, and he did not erect any barriers in addition to those that came with Mallory's unit and the basement to which Mallory had access. Both were locked and were not accessible to the public. As noted, Bridges had keys to the outside and interior doors, but lacked a key to the basement and could not access it without permission (37:19-20, 42-43).

As to the fifth factor, there is no question that Bridges put Mallory's duplex unit, and, *to a much lesser extent*, the locked basement, to his own private use. By Mallory's account, Bridges was an overnight guest three or four times per week for at least three months (37:16-18). Bridges described Mallory's residence as a "place of leisure" where he and Mallory could "[1]ounge around," watch TV and "have female company" (37:109). Bridges made meals at Mallory's, kept personal and work clothes there, had friends over (male and female), and kept many personal items there, including toiletries, food, and car equipment (37:103-04, 109).

While Bridges frequently used the kitchen—the area where the baggies and some other drug evidence was found—Bridges used the locked basement—the area where the stash of drugs and guns was found—far less regularly. As noted, Bridges accessed the locked

⁴ Bridges cites *State v. Curbello-Rodriguez*, 119 Wis. 2d 414, 424-25, 351 N.W.2d 758 (Ct. App. 1984), a case in which an overnight guest was found to have "unrestricted access" to an area under a bed in the residence, in support of his position (Bridges' br. at 19). But unlike *Curbello-Rodriguez*, Bridges plainly did not have "unrestricted access" to the locked basement. Moreover, other factors, including that Bridges' very presence as an overnight guest was contrary to his conditions of supervision, distinguish *Curbello-Rodriguez*.

basement "like two to three times" in the months he stayed at Mallory's, did not have a key, and was not authorized to access it without the permission of Mallory or the landlord (37:19-20, 42-43, 139). Mallory's main use of the basement was to store a handful of personal items, including a set of hub caps, an entertainment center, the treadmill, as well as the contraband (37:104-06). Thus, taking the two areas searched separately in evaluating the private-use factor, the search of the kitchen weighs far more heavily in Bridges' favor than the search of the basement.

Finally, factor six, whether Bridges' claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy, should also factor against recognition of a legitimate expectation of privacy, particularly with regard to the locked basement. Of course, the Fourth Amendment accords the greatest protection to living quarters, Trecroci, 246 Wis. 2d 261, ¶ 41, and Bridges' was a regular overnight guest at Mallory's residence. However. Bridges' overnight presence there without his probation agent's permission violated his conditions of supervision. Recognition of a right to privacy in a place where one is not allowed to be under lawful conditions imposed as a part of a sentence on a felony conviction is contrary to historical notions of privacy. See Amos, 153 Wis. 2d at 269-70; Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143 n.12. Moreover, Bridges' claim of privacy to the locked basement, which he states he rarely visited, had no key to, and was not authorized to access without the permission of Mallory or the landlord, is far less consistent with historical notions of privacy than his claim of privacy in Mallory's apartment unit itself.

Weighing these factors together, the State submits that Bridges did not have an expectation of privacy that society should recognize as legitimate in either Mallory's apartment unit (the kitchen) or the locked, separate basement. The balance of factors shows that one, two, three and six weigh against recognition of an objective expectation of privacy, and only factor five plainly counts in favor of recognition of such an expectation. The State submits that the fact that Bridges overnight presence at Mallory's without his probation agent's permission was contrary to his supervision should factor heavily in the totality of the circumstances analysis.

If this court concludes that Bridges had a legitimate expectation of privacy in Mallory's duplex unit itselfand thus has standing to object to the kitchen search—but did not have a legitimate privacy expectation in the locked basement, it must also conclude that the trial court's wrongful admission of the baggies and other evidence from the kitchen was harmless. See State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (an error is harmless "if it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." (citation omitted)). The primary evidence at trial, the evidence which led to the charges in this case, was the drugs and guns found in the basement (40:139-50; There is no reasonable possibility that 41:7-11). exclusion of the evidence from the kitchen would have changed the jury's guilty verdict.

> II. IF THIS COURT CONCLUDES THAT BRIDGES HAD STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE SEARCH, IT MUST REMAND FOR FURTHER PROCEEDINGS TO ADDRESS THE LEGALITY OF THE SEARCH.

On appeal, Bridges also challenges the legality of the search, arguing that Mallory's consent to search to the basement was not voluntary, that the warrantless entry into Mallory's duplex unit was not justified by an exception to the warrant requirement, and the allegedly consensual search of the kitchen and basement was not sufficiently attenuated from the illegal entry to purge the taint of the illegal police conduct (Bridges' br. at 20-28).

Of course, if, as the State maintains, Bridges lacked standing to object to the search, the matter of the search's legality is irrelevant. However, if this court concludes that Bridges had standing, it should decline to address Bridges' arguments concerning the legality of the search because the circuit court intentionally chose not to rule on these issues. Contrary to Bridges' suggestion, the suppression hearing transcript shows that the court purposely addressed the standing issue only.

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